**RECEIVED**

**Feb 13 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Veron F. Dunbar, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No: 2026-000307

---

Bruce Wilson, ....., Appellant

v.

Ennis M. Fant....., Respondent.

---

**APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

---

Bruce Wilson  
14 Freestone St  
Greenville SC 29605  
(864) 907-7080  
brucewilson23@gmail.com

**APPELLANT**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred by failing to exclude extrinsic affidavits or convert the motion to summary judgment as required by the conversion provision of rule 12(b), SCRPC.
- II. Whether the Circuit Court erred, on a rule 12(b)(6) motion, by effectively determining appellant was a public.
- III. Whether the Amended Complaint plausibly alleged all elements of defamation and defamation per se, including actual malice, by alleging Respondent published a false dementia diagnosis with reckless disregard for the truth.
- IV. Whether the Circuit Court erred by dismissing the defamation claim based on the statements to Bill Gibson, as defendant waived any challenge to this cause of action by failing to address it in his motion to dismiss.
- V. Whether the Amended Complaint adequately stated a claim for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress by alleging extreme and outrageous conduct (fabricating a serious medical diagnosis) and resulting severe emotional distress.
- VI. Whether the Circuit Court abused its discretion by denying plaintiff's rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Order of the Circuit Court for Greenville County (Dunbar, J.) dated November 14, 2025, **GRANTED** Defendant-Respondent Ennis M. Fant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff-Appellant Bruce Wilson's Amended Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRPC"). The Order dismissed Appellant's claims for Defamation, Defamation Per Se, and Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress ("IIED"). The litigation arises from Respondent's malicious and false statements, published to multiple third parties, alleging that Appellant suffered from a confirmed diagnosis of dementia and that his disruptive behavior caused changes to Greenville County Council procedures. Appellant, the founder and CEO of a nonprofit organization, alleges these statements were made with reckless disregard for the truth and with the intent to damage his reputation and livelihood. The procedural

history is relevant. Appellant filed his initial Complaint on January 26, 2024. After Respondent filed a motion to dismiss, the Circuit Court (Salvini, J.) on April 21, 2025, **GRANTED** Appellant leave to amend his Complaint and entered a sixty-day stay of discovery. Appellant filed his Amended Complaint on May 5, 2025. Respondent filed the instant Motion to Dismiss on July 11, 2025, along with a supporting memorandum and multiple affidavits obtained from witnesses during the discovery stay period. Appellant filed a detailed Memorandum in Opposition on September 16, 2025, arguing that the motion improperly relied on extrinsic evidence, raised affirmative defenses not apparent from the pleadings, and misapplied the pleading standard. A hearing was held on September 22, 2025. During the hearing, Appellant objected vigorously to the Court's consideration of the extrinsic affidavits, arguing they transformed the motion into one for summary judgment. The court took the matter under advisement and issued its formal dismissal order, on November 8, 2025, adopting Respondent's arguments without meaningful analysis of the pleading sufficiency or the procedural impropriety of considering outside evidence. Appellant filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration under Rule 59(e), SCRCF on November 17, 2025, and an Amended Motion for Reconsideration under Rule 59(e), SCRCF on November 20, 2025. The Circuit **DENIED** the Motion for Reconsideration under Rule 59(e) on February 9, 2026.

This appeal followed. Appellant contends the Circuit Court erred as a matter of law by (1) prematurely adjudicating his status as a public figure; (2) considering extrinsic evidence on a 12(b)(6) motion without conversion; (3) finding the Amended Complaint insufficiently pled defamation and actual malice; (4) dismissing a defamation claim that Respondent waived challenge to; (5) dismissing the IIED claim; and (6) granting the motion to dismiss in its entirety despite the Amended Complaint stating plausible claims for relief.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

### A. Motions to Dismiss

In reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the [circuit] court. *HHHunt Corp. v. Town of Lexington*, 389 S.C. 623, 631, 699 S.E.2d 699, 703 (Ct. App. 2010). See also, *Fabian v. Lindsay*, 410 S.C. 475, 481, 765 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2014) (“A ruling on a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) must be based solely on the factual allegations set forth in the complaint, and the court must consider all well-pled allegations as true.”); *Wilkinson v. E. Cooper Cmty. Hosp., Inc.*, 410 S.C. 163, 169, 763 S.E.2d 426, 430 (2014) (quoting *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). “In deciding whether the [circuit] court properly granted the motion to dismiss, the appellate court must consider whether the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, state any valid claim for relief.” *Id.* “The [circuit] court and this [c]ourt on appeal must presume all well pled facts to be true.” *Id.* at 635, 699 S.E.2d at 705 (internal quotation marks omitted).

### B. Motions to Reconsider

In South Carolina, Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motions have long been considered a vehicle to seek reconsideration of issues and arguments presented to the court. See *Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 21, 602 S.E.2d 772, 778 (2004). It is proper to view a Rule 59(e) motion not only as a vehicle to request the trial court “alter or amend the judgment,” but also as a vehicle to seek “reconsideration” of issues and arguments. A party usually is allowed to ask the trial court to reconsider its decision, even if it means rehashing all or part of an argument previously presented. *Elam*, 361 S.C. at 21, 602 S.E.2d at 778-79. Rule 59(e) provides that a “motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served no later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the

order,” it does not set forth a defined legal standard for reconsideration. Rule 59(e), SCRC. The South Carolina Supreme Court has established that, “a party may wish to file such a motion when he believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it.” Id, 361 S.C. at 24, 602 S.E.2d at 780.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court’s order dismissing Appellant’s Amended Complaint represents a profound departure from settled South Carolina pleading standards and civil procedure. The Court committed multiple, interlocking errors that collectively require **REVERSAL** and **REMAND**.

First, and most egregiously, the Court permitted Respondent to transform a 12(b)(6) motion into a vehicle for a factual showdown. Respondent submitted contradictory affidavits procured in potential violation of a discovery stay that directly rebutted the factual allegations of the Amended Complaint. Appellant repeatedly objected that this was an improper “mini trial.” The Court was obligated under Rule 12(d) to either exclude this extrinsic evidence or convert the motion to one for summary judgment. Its failure to do so and its apparent reliance on this outside evidence to find the pleadings deficient is reversible error. Second, the Court seemingly injected and relied upon the affirmative defense that Appellant is a “*public figure*.” This determination is a fact-intensive inquiry that cannot be resolved on the bare pleadings, which contain no allegations of such status. By adopting Respondent’s argument, the court prematurely imposed a heightened pleading standard without the requisite factual development.

Third, the Amended Complaint, when judged solely on its own well-pled facts and attached exhibits, plausibly alleges all elements of defamation and defamation per se. It identifies the false statements (dementia diagnosis), the publishers (Respondent), the recipients (Dillard, Jones,

others), the falsity, and the resulting harm. It further alleges Respondent acted with reckless disregard for the truth, which is sufficient to plead actual malice at this stage. The allegation that Respondent fabricated a serious medical condition without any verification constitutes classic defamation per se as it imputes a loathsome disease and professional unfitness. Fourth, Respondent's Motion to Dismiss failed to challenge the defamation claim based on the statements made to Bill Gibson regarding council meeting disruptions. By not raising this in his motion, Respondent waived the issue. The Circuit Court erred by **sua sponte** dismissing this claim. Fifth, the alleged conduct systematically fabricating and disseminating a debilitating mental illness diagnosis to destroy a person's reputation and livelihood is the very definition of "extreme and outrageous" conduct required for an IIED claim. The Amended Complaint details severe emotional and physical manifestations, satisfying South Carolina's stringent standard at the pleading stage.

Finally, viewing the Amended Complaint in the light most favorable to Appellant, as required, it states plausible claims for relief. The Circuit Court's order provides no analysis, merely concluding Appellant "failed to plead the necessary elements." This conclusory finding, against the detailed factual backdrop of the Amended Complaint, cannot stand. The order must be **REVERSED**, and the case **REMANDED** for further proceedings, including discovery on the factual disputes the Respondent improperly tried to short-circuit.

## **ARGUMENT**

- I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO EXCLUDE EXTRINSIC AFFIDAVITS OR CONVERT THE MOTION TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS REQUIRED BY THE CONVERSION PROVISION OF RULE 12(B), SCRCP.**
  - A. The Strict "Four Corners" Rule Bars Consideration of Extrinsic Evidence on a 12(b)(6) Motion. The Standard for a Rule 12(b)(6) Motion Is Sacrosanct.**

The trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007) (emphasis added). This foundational principle exists to separate the distinct functions of a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary judgment. At the pleading stage, the court’s role is narrow: to determine whether, assuming the truth of all factual allegations and drawing every reasonable inference in the plaintiff’s favor, the complaint states a legally cognizable claim. *Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 202, 584 S.E.2d 413, 416 (Ct. App. 2003). The court may consider documents attached to the complaint or incorporated by reference, as they are deemed part of the pleading. *See Goines v. Valley Cmty. Servs. Bd.*, 822 F.3d 159, 166 (4th Cir. 2016). It may not, however, consider “extrinsic evidence,” such as affidavits, exhibits, or testimony that contradict, challenge, or supplement the pleaded facts. *See, e.g.*, 5A C.J.S. *Appeal and Error* § 1000 (2024); *Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 424 S.C. 603, 613–14, 819 S.E.2d 147, 153 (Ct. App. 2018).

***The last sentence of Rule 12(b), SCRPC, provides the explicit and mandatory procedure when such extrinsic evidence is introduced:***

If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not ***excluded*** by the Court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, SCRPC, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56, SCRPC.

This rule serves critical procedural justice purposes: (1) it prevents defendants from using a motion to dismiss as a Trojan horse to introduce contested evidence and obtain a premature merits-based dismissal; (2) it ensures that factual disputes are resolved only after the parties have had the full benefit of discovery, including depositions, document production, and the right to cross-examine affiants; and (3) it guarantees litigants notice and a meaningful opportunity to

present all countervailing evidence before a dispositive ruling. To allow a court to consider contradictory affidavits on a 12(b)(6) motion “converts the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment.” *Paradis*, 424 S.C. at 614, 819 S.E.2d at 153.

**B. Defendant’s Motion and Argument Were Replete with Extrinsic Evidence and Factual Contests.**

Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss was not a pure challenge to legal sufficiency; it was a factual assault disguised as a pleading motion. (Mot. to Dismiss pp. 7–8, Lines 2–25; Lines 1–16; ROA\_\_\_). The motion and its supporting memorandum were built upon a foundation of extrinsic evidence, primarily new, contradictory affidavits from Jack Logan and State Representative Chandra Dillard. (Memo in Supp., pp. 4–5, 10; Mot. to Dismiss, Lines 10, 13–15; ROA\_\_\_). These affidavits were not part of, attached to, or referenced in the Amended Complaint. They were classic “matters outside the pleadings.”

The affidavits created a direct “swearing contest” on the central factual issue: whether Fant published the defamatory text. The Logan affidavit **attached to the Amended Complaint** states Rep. Dillard informed him she received Fant’s text claiming Wilson had dementia. (Am. Compl., Logan Aff. ¶ 3; ROA\_\_\_). The Logan affidavit **attached to Fant’s motion** states the opposite: “**did** she inform me that Ennis Fant had sent a text message or in any way insinuated that Mr. Fant stated Bruce Wilson had been diagnosed with dementia.” (Def. Ex., Logan Aff. ¶ 7; ROA\_\_\_). This is not a subtle nuance; it is a diametric factual contradiction that goes to the very heart of the publication element.

Respondent’s counsel centered his entire oral argument on this extrinsic evidence, explicitly asking the court to find facts based on it:

**On the non-existence of the text:** “The chief argument as to why this case should be dismissed, your Honor, is **because** no one has ever seen a ... this alleged written statement. The Plaintiff has never seen it.”

(Tr. p. 7, Lines 23–25; ROA\_\_\_).

**On the credibility of the new affidavits:** “We have presented to you two affidavits, your Honor. One from **Representative** [Chandra] Dillard, and one from ... Jack Logan. Both of those individuals ... simply state that this text message never occurred.”

(Tr. p. 8, Lines 9–13; ROA\_\_\_).

**On drawing a factual conclusion:** “The fact that no one has ever seen it is **proof** that it never existed and it never occurred.”

(Tr. p. 10, Lines 2–4; ROA\_\_\_).

***Appellant’s timely and precise objections highlighted the procedural violation:***

“Your Honor, he’s putting in ... this is about the complaint. He’s having a mini trial. This is not a summary judgment; this is a motion to dismiss. He’s already told this court about affidavits that are not part of my pleadings.”

(Tr. p. 10, Lines 7–12; ROA\_\_\_).

“He’s trying to have a mini trial. He’s asking this court to weigh evidence at a motion to dismiss, and that’s not allowed.” (Tr. p. 10, Lines 16–19; ROA\_\_\_).

Furthermore, this extrinsic evidence was arguably procured through improper means, in violation of the court’s own discovery stay. Appellant’s opposition memorandum alleges that during the 60-day stay ordered on April 21, 2025, Respondent’s agent contacted witness Jack Logan, falsely represented the case had been dismissed, and met with him on July 8, 2025, to secure the contradictory affidavit. (Pl. Mem. Opp., p. 2; ROA\_\_\_). This allegation, while not yet proven, starkly illustrates the profound unfairness of allowing such *ex parte*, pre-discovery evidence to form the basis for dismissing a complaint. It demonstrates the very abuse Rule 12(b)’s conversion mandate is designed to prevent.

**C. The Circuit Court Erred by Failing to Either Exclude the Extrinsic Evidence or Convert the Motion, Thereby Resolving Factual Disputes Without Rule 56 Protections.**

Confronted with a motion saturated with extrinsic evidence and clear, correct objections from Appellant, the Circuit Court was presented with a **binary choice** under Rule 12(b):

(1) **Exclude** the affidavits that is, strike them or affirmatively state they will not be considered and decide the motion based solely on the Amended Complaint’s allegations; or

(2) **Convert** the motion to one for summary judgment under Rule 56, provide explicit notice to the parties, and allow a reasonable opportunity for both sides to submit all pertinent Rule 56 materials, including conducting discovery.

***The court did neither.***

Its handling of the issue was procedurally opaque and substantively erroneous. While the court verbally acknowledged Appellant’s “four corners” objection (Tr. p. 10, Lines 20–22; ROA\_\_\_), it did not sustain it, strike the affidavits, or order them excluded. Instead, it allowed Respondent to continue weaving the affidavits into the heart of his argument. The court’s statement, “I’ll look at the complaint **as well as the basis for your motion,**” (Tr. p. 10, Lines 22–23; ROA\_\_\_) was a critical misstep. The “basis” for Respondent’s motion was the extrinsic evidence. By considering that “basis,” the court necessarily considered the extrinsic evidence and, at a minimum, **failed to exclude it**. The court’s failure to exclude is fatal. Under Rule 12(b), the trigger for mandatory conversion is **presentation + non-exclusion**. The rule does not require proof that the court actually *relied* on the extrinsic materials; it requires only that they were “presented to and not excluded by the Court.” Here, they were presented. They were never excluded. The court’s silence on the affidavits its failure to rule on Appellant’s objection means the affidavits remained “not excluded.” Conversion was therefore **mandatory**.

This violation is cemented by the court’s final Order, which notes, “Each party has submitted a supporting memorandum stating their respective positions and legal arguments.” (Order p. 2; ROA\_\_\_). Respondent’s “position,” as laid out in his memorandum and at the hearing, was entirely dependent on the new affidavits. The order does not state that the affidavits were disregarded, nor does it reflect any ruling excluding them. This Court in *Paradis* was unequivocal:

“Because the circuit court considered the emails attached to the [defendant’s] motion to dismiss, it should have treated the motion as one for summary judgment.” 424 S.C. at 614, 819 S.E.2d at 153. The same logic applies with even greater force here, where the extrinsic materials were not merely appended emails, but contradictory sworn statements procured under questionable circumstances and made the centerpiece of Respondent’s argument.

***This error was not harmless. It was outcome-determinative.***

The core of Respondent’s motion was that the defamatory statement was a fiction because his new affidavits said so. Had the court properly **excluded** the affidavits, the motion would have stood or fallen on the legal sufficiency of the Amended Complaint’s allegations. Those allegations, as demonstrated in Section III, are plainly sufficient to state a claim for defamation. The motion to dismiss would have been denied. Instead, by leaving the affidavits in the record and never excluding them, the court effectively allowed Respondent to obtain a **dismissal on factual grounds** without any of the procedural protections of Rule 56 without discovery, without the opportunity to cross-examine the affiants, and without the chance to submit counter-affidavits or other evidence. This “converts the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment,” *Goines*, 822 F.3d at 166, but without providing any of Rule 56’s safeguards. It is the antithesis of a proper Rule 12(b)(6) analysis and constitutes reversible error.

The Circuit Court’s failure to adhere to the strictures of Rule 12(b) resulted in an order that is fundamentally inconsistent and legally unsustainable. The court expressly began its analysis by reciting the controlling principle that a ruling must be based “solely on allegations set forth in the complaint.” *Doe*, 373 S.C. at 395 (Order p. 1; ROA \_\_\_). Having correctly stated the law, the court then proceeded to **ignore it** by permitting Respondent’s motion to be built on and argued with extrinsic affidavits that were never excluded. A court cannot, as a matter of logic or law, profess

fidelity to the “four corners” rule while simultaneously allowing a party to wage a factual battle with materials from outside those corners. This self-contradiction strips the dismissal order of coherent legal reasoning and demonstrates that the court applied an improper standard. Where a lower court’s application of the law so blatantly diverges from its own stated analysis, its judgment cannot stand. The judgment must be **REVERSED**, and the case **REMANDED** with instructions that any factual challenge to the complaint be raised if at all through a properly noticed motion for summary judgment after the close of discovery, with all the procedural protections Rule 56 affords.

## **II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED, ON A RULE 12(B)(6) MOTION, BY EFFECTIVELY DETERMINING APPELLANT WAS A PUBLIC.**

### **A. The Applicable Law Requires a Fact-Intensive Inquiry Inappropriate for a Rule 12(b)(6) Motion.**

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