THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals
APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED
Apr 17 2026
SC Court of Appeals

Vernon F. Dunbar, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000307

Bruce Wilson,, Appellant,

v.

Ennis M. Fant,, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ J. Todd Rutherford
J. Todd Rutherford, Esq.
RUTHERFORD LAW FIRM
1315 Blanding Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Phone No.: (803) 256-3003
Fax No.: (803) 256-9698
todd@rutherford.law
Attorney for Respondent

This the 15th day of April 2026.

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED RULE 12(B)(6) AND DID NOT RELY ON EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE, NOR WAS THE COURT REQUIRED TO CONVERT THE MOTION TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Appellant argues the Circuit Court erred by failing to convert the motion to summary judgment after Respondent submitted affidavits from Jack Logan and Chandra Dillard. This argument is unsupported by Judge Dunbar's Order, as the Order does not refer to any extrinsic evidence, the Order makes no finding of fact nor states any facts that were relied upon in reaching its decision. R. 13-16. It is clear in the record that the Court relied solely upon the review of the pleaded allegations of Appellant in asserting his claims, including attached exhibits to the pleadings. As such, the Court unquestionably found that Appellant failed to properly plead each of his causes of action, which will be discussed further below. R. 13-16. The Circuit Court very simply dismissed the action based on the Appellant's failure to plead an actionable claim. R. 13-16.

The Circuit Court's Order explicitly sets forth the South SCRPC Rule 12(b)(6) standard. Crucially, Appellant fails to cite any "extrinsic evidence" relied upon by Judge Dunbar. Appellant speculates that Judge Dunbar relied upon the competing affidavits of Jack Logan and Rep. Chandra Dillard, which directly contradict Appellant's allegations, likely because Appellant's own exhibits and references in his Amended Complaint are patently false or mischaracterized. Yet, there is not a single reference to any evidence, affidavits, or exhibits in Judge Dunbar's Order. R. 13-16. There is nothing in the record suggesting that Judge Dunbar relied on either party's exhibits, attachments, or otherwise "extrinsic evidence".

However, even if the Court had relied upon such information, all of the so-called "extrinsic evidence" is cited and incorporated by reference in Appellant's Amended Complaint. Reliance on this information would not constitute the need to convert the action to a summary judgment. South

Carolina law permits a court to consider documents that are central to a plaintiff's claim and specifically referenced in the complaint without converting the motion to one for summary judgment. *Brazell v. Windsor*, 384 S.C. 512, 516, 682 S.E.2d 824, 826 (2009). The South Carolina Supreme Court has specifically held, "In our view, allowing a trial court to consider documents that are incorporated by reference in the complaint but not actually attached thereto prevents a plaintiff from benefiting from his own oversight or from surviving a motion to dismiss by intentionally omitting documents upon which their claims are based." *Brazell*, 384 S.C. 512, 516, 682 S.E.2d 824, 826.

Appellant very clearly has attempted to engage in the very conduct the *Brazell* Court cautioned against. Appellant continuously fails to acknowledge that his own pleadings are littered with alleged direct quotes from Jack Logan and Rep. Chandra Dillard concerning the alleged facts of Appellant's claims. R. 36-38. Perhaps more significantly, attached to Appellant's Amended Complaint is an alleged Affidavit of Jack Logan and a screenshot of text messages between Appellant and Rep. Chandra Dillard, which are also incorporated by reference in the body of the pleadings. R. 35-50. Respondent's competing affidavits are at best responsive to the numerous references and duplicitous assertions incorporated and relied upon in Appellant's Amended Complaint.

Yet, there is still nothing in the record to suggest that Judge Dunbar relied on any of the affidavits submitted, whether by Appellant or Respondent. R. 13-16. It appears Appellant seeks the Court to review and rely upon his extrinsic evidence, while limiting Respondent's ability to present legal and factual defects within his Amended Complaint, which diametrically opposes the ruling in *Brazell*. Regardless, the Order under review rests entirely on the legal insufficiency of the allegations themselves. As such, the Court determined Appellant's Amended Complaint was again deficient and failed to state a claim, pursuant to SCRCF Rule 12(b)(6). R. 13-16.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT MADE NO FINDING REGARDING APPELLANT'S STATUS AS A PUBLIC FIGURE.

Appellant contends the Circuit Court "effectively" determined he was a public figure. However, a review of the Order reveals no such finding. The dismissal was based on the failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, which is a threshold inquiry regarding the elements of the claims, not an evidentiary determination of public status. To the extent public status was discussed in the briefing, it was for the purpose of addressing the level of scrutiny applied to the review of the elements, but not the sufficiency of the causes of action as alleged. Appellant again ignores the basic principle that the elements are deficiently pled on their face under any level of scrutiny, as determined by the Court. The Circuit Court never issued a determination of Appellant's public figure status and should not be an issue for review at this juncture. Even assuming arguendo that Appellant is a private figure, dismissal remains proper because the complaint fails to plead the necessary elements under any defamation standard. As will be discussed further, Appellant failed to properly plead an actionable claim for defamation via libel. The Court unquestionably did not determine his public figure status, and such an argument is immaterial.

The court's dismissal for "failure to plead an actionable claim" is a general finding of legal insufficiency that does not necessitate a public figure ruling.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED RULE 12(b)(6).

The Court properly ruled that Appellant failed to properly plead the necessary elements of each cause of action. As such, the Court found that the facts alleged in the complaint do not support relief under any theory of law. *Doe*, 361 S.C. 463. South Carolina remains a notice-pleading state, but notice pleading still requires facts—not speculation, inference stacking, or conclusory labels. *See Doe*, 373 S.C. 390. A Complaint must allege facts sufficient to support relief under any theory of law. *See Id.* at 390, *see also Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 202, 584 S.E.2d 413, 416 (Ct.

App. 2003). It is important to note that this matter was brought before the trial court on a Motion to Dismiss the initial Complaint, and Appellant voluntarily dismissed the initial Complaint for the purposes of correcting its deficiencies. (emphasis added). R. 1-3. Appellant failed to correct the deficiencies and properly plead his causes of action in his Amended Complaint.

A. APPELLANT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM OF DEFAMATION AND DEFAMATION PER SE.

“The elements of defamation include: (1) a false and defamatory statement concerning another; (2) an unprivileged publication to a third party; (3) fault on the part of the publisher; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by publication.” *Murray v. Holnam*, 344 S.C. 129, 139, 542 S.E.2d 743,748 (Ct. App. 2001).

“[Defamation] is actionable per se only if it charges the plaintiff with one of five types of acts or characteristics: (1) commission of a crime of moral turpitude; (2) contraction of a loathsome disease; (3) adultery; (4) unchastity; or (5) unfitness in one's business or profession.” *Murray*, 344 S.C. 129, 142. Defamation per se presumes that Defendants acted with common law malice and Plaintiff suffered general damages. *Id.*, 344 S.C. at 142.

Appellant failed to plead any defamatory statement published by Respondent by way of libel. Appellant claims on January 9, 2024, Respondent “sent several text messages to members of the South Carolina Statehouse to include Representative Chandra Dillard and Representative Wendell Jones stating that Appellant suffered from the loathsome, and debilitating disease "Dementia" and that it was a confirm diagnosis.” R. 36. Therefore, Appellant asserts a written instrument exist in which Respondent defamed him by way of libel. Libel is actionable *per se* if it involves “written or printed words which tend to degrade a person, that is, to reduce his character or reputation in the estimation of his friends or acquaintances, or the public, or to disgrace him, or to render him odious, contemptible, or ridiculous....”. *Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc.*, 332 S.C. 502, 510, 506

S.E.2d 497, 502 (1998) (quoting *Lesesne v. Willingham*, 83 F.Supp. 918, 921 (E.D.S.C.1949)). Appellant failed to plead the actual existence of the alleged written defamatory statement, or any individual, including himself, who witnessed the alleged statement, and as such Appellant failed to plead a publication of a defamatory statement.

Further, Appellant claims Respondent defamed him by alleging that Respondent stated, “plaintiff was the reason that Greenville County council had to change its citizens comment rules, because plaintiff was disruptive in questioning the defendant during council meetings.” R. 35-50. To prove a claim for defamation or defamation *per se*, a Plaintiff must first prove that a statement was in fact false. *See Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 473, 629 S.E.2d 653, 668 (2006), disapproved of by *Floyd v. WBTW*, No. CIV.A. 4:06CV3120-RB, 2007 WL 4458924 (D.S.C. Dec. 17, 2007) (citing *Foretich v. Capital Cities/ABC, Inc.*, 37 F.3d 1541, 1551 (4th Cir.1994)). Appellant has failed to plead any facts that this alleged statement was, in fact false. Such a statement on its face is not defamatory. There is nothing in the Amended Complaint stating, inferring, or suggesting this alleged statement, if made, is in fact false. Appellant has failed to plead that Respondent published a false statement concerning Appellant to a third party and that a special harm was caused by its publication.

I. APPELLANT’S WAIVER ARGUMENT LACKS LEGAL MERIT.

The Circuit Court properly dismissed the defamation claim in its entirety because Respondent moved to dismiss the cause of action as a whole, rather than specific factual allegations therein. Appellant erroneously contends that Respondent waived his challenge to the defamation claim regarding statements allegedly made to Bill Gibson. This argument reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of the function of a motion to dismiss under SCRCP Rule 12(b)(6). In his Amended Complaint, Appellant did not plead separate causes of action for each individual to whom a statement was allegedly published. Instead, Appellant merged multiple factual allegations—

including those involving Jack Logan, Chandra Dillard, and Bill Gibson—into a single "First Cause of Action" for Defamation and a "Second Cause of Action" for Defamation Per Se.

Respondent's Motion to Dismiss and supporting Memorandum specifically sought the dismissal of these causes of action in their entirety. A Rule 12(b)(6) motion challenges the legal sufficiency of the claim as a whole. Appellant chose to bundle his various factual allegations into single counts; Respondent's challenge to the legal viability of those counts necessarily encompassed every underlying factual instance. There is no requirement under the SCRCF that a defendant "carve out" and specifically rebut every individual sentence or factual example within a single cause of action to avoid waiver. By moving to dismiss each and every cause of action, Respondent placed the legal sufficiency of that entire claim before the Court.

Furthermore, the Circuit Court's Order explicitly granted the motion as to the causes of actions and dismissed the Amended Complaint because Appellant failed to plead an actionable claim. The Court found that the allegations—regardless of the recipient—failed to satisfy the essential elements of defamation or defamation per se. Consequently, there was no waiver, and the Circuit Court properly exercised its authority to dismiss the legally deficient claims in their entirety.

Therefore, the Circuit Court properly determined that Appellant failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action and dismissed this matter, pursuant to SCRCF Rule 12(b)(6).

B. APPELLANT FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM FOR INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS.

In order to succeed on a claim for Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, a Plaintiff must plead, "(1) the defendant intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress, or was certain, or substantially certain, that such distress would result from his conduct; (2) the conduct was so "extreme and outrageous" so as to exceed "all possible bounds of decency" and must be regarded as "atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community; (3) the actions of the defendant caused

plaintiff's emotional distress; and (4) the emotional distress suffered by the plaintiff was "severe" such that "no reasonable man could be expected to endure it." *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 356, 650 S.E.2d 68, 70 (2007). The Circuit Court properly ruled that Appellant failed to plead any action or conduct by Respondent which intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress, failed to plead a showing of extreme and outrageous conduct that exceeds all possible bounds of decency, and that Appellant failed to plead any supporting allegations that he suffered any severe damages attributable to Respondent.

The Circuit Court correctly found that Appellant failed to plead "so extreme and outrageous so as to exceed all possible bounds of decency" and be regarded as "atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized community." *Hansson*, 374 S.C. 352, 356. Viewed in the light most favorable to the Appellant, the alleged dissemination of an incorrect medical diagnosis without the Appellant ever witnessing the alleged disseminated material does not rise to this "extremely high" level of outrage required in South Carolina. *Hansson*, at 356. "Under the heightened standard of proof for emotional distress claims emphasized in *Ford*, a party cannot establish a prima facie claim for damages resulting from a defendant's tortious conduct with mere bald assertions. To permit a plaintiff to legitimately state a cause of action by simply alleging, "I suffered emotional distress," would be irreconcilable with this Court's development of the law in this area. *Id.*, at 358.

Therefore, the Circuit Court properly ruled that Appellant failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action and dismissed this matter, pursuant to SCRCF Rule 12(b)(6).

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANT'S RULE 59(e) MOTION AS THE MOTION MERELY SOUGHT TO RELITIGATE ISSUES ALREADY DECIDED BY THE COURT.

"Motions under Rule 59 are limited in scope and are not to be used to 'rehash' the same arguments and facts previously presented." *Dockins v. Benchmark_Comm's*, 180 F.R.D. 294, 295

(D.S.C. 1998), aff'd, 176 F.3d 745 (4th Cir. 1999). Here, Appellant's Rule 59(e) motion did not identify a clerical error or a newly discovered manifest error of law. Instead, the motion served as a wholesale repetition of the arguments made in opposition to the Motion to Dismiss—namely, the argument that the Court should have converted the motion to one for summary judgment and the argument regarding the "Bill Gibson" statement.

Accordingly, the Circuit Court's denial of the Rule 59(e) motion should be affirmed as the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent Ennis M. Fant respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Circuit Court's order dismissing the Amended Complaint with prejudice. Appellant has failed to demonstrate any error of law; the Circuit Court's Order should be **AFFIRMED**.

Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Circuit Court's Order and dismiss this matter with prejudice.